IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 70,545

ELLEN M. CARR and GEROW F. CARR, as parents and natural guardians of JON TIMOTHY CARR, a minor; and ELLEN M. CARR and GEROW F. CARR, individually,

LAUDERDALE GYNECOLOGIC ASSOCIATES; TERGHOS, GRENITZ, HUNTSINGER, CARUSO

JAMES WEAVER, M.D.; ROBERT

Petitioners,

vs.

CENTER;

GRENITZ, M.D.;



Respondents.

& RODRIGUEZ, P.A.,

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

LAURA S. ROTSTEIN, ESQ. STANLEY M. ROSENBLATT, P.A. Attorneys for Petitioners 11th and 12th Floors Concord Building 66 West Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33130 Tel: (305) 374-6131 (Dade) (305) 463-1818 (Broward)

INTRODUCTION

Pursuant to this Court's briefing schedule, dated May 26, 1987, Petitioners ELLEN M. CARR and GEROW F. CARR, individually, and as parents and natural guardians of JON TIMOTHY CARR, a minor, hereby file their Initial Brief on the merits. Petitioners were plaintiffs in the trial court. Respondents, BROWARD COUNTY d/b/a BROWARD GENERAL MEDICAL CENTER, JAMES WEAVER, M.D., ROBERT GRENITZ, M.D., JOSEPH RAZIANO, M.D., and LAUDERALE GYNECOLOGIC ASSOCIATES, were the defendants.

The symbol "R" will be used to refer to the record on appeal. The symbol "A" will be used to refer to Petitioners' Appendix to this Brief. The parties will be referred to by name or as they stand before this Court. All emphasis has been supplied unless otherwise noted.

- vi -

This appeal arises out of the dismissal of Petitioners' action for medical malpractice in the trial court.

On September 26, 1985, Petitioners filed a complaint against the Respondents named herein. (R.1-10) This complaint was amended once to properly name a party and to drop a vicarious liability claim. (R.11-23) The amended complaint alleges, in pertinent part:

- 8. On or about March, 1975, Ellen M. Carr came under the care and treatment of Drs. Weaver, Grenitz and Raziano for prenatal care and treatment.
- 9. On or about December 20, 1975, at about 10 a.m., Ellen M. Carr was admitted to Broward General, said date being approximately two weeks after her estimated delivery date.
- 10. On or about December 20, 1975, at 3:48 p.m., the plaintiff, Ellen M. Carr, delivered the minor plaintiff, Jon Timothy Carr.
- 11. At the time of his birth, Jon Timothy Carr suffered complications which resulted in his sustaining severe brain damage.
- 12. Ellen M. Carr, through exercise of due diligence, was not able to discover the facts and circumstances surrounding her prenatal and obstetrical care as well as the care rendered to her son during birth and the neonatal period, so that she was unable to discover the negligent care and treatment that had been rendered. Furthermore, the defendants, their employees, agents, and officers and/or servants knew or should have known that negligent treatment had been delivered and fraudulently concealed from Ellen M. Carr the facts and circumstances surrounding the negligent treatment rendered to her during her prenatal and obstetrical care as well as the care rendered to her son during birth and in the neonatal period.
- (R.12, 13)

On October 16, 1985, Respondents LAUDERDALE GYNECOLOGIC ASSO-CIATES and DRS. GRENITZ and RAZIANO filed a motion to dismiss with

- 1 -

11TH AND 12TH FLOORS CONCORD BUILDING, 66 WEST FLAGLER STREET, MIAMI, FLORIDA 33130 • TELEPHONE (305) 374-6131

prejudice. (R.24) Respondents asserted that the action was timebarred pursuant to section 95.11(4)(b), Florida Statutes (1975). The motion was granted by the Honorable George A. Shahood of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit on October 30, 1985. (R.40) The remaining Respondents, DR. WEAVER and BROWARD COUNTY HOSPITAL DISTRICT, filed similar motions to dismiss with prejudice on November 1 and December 13, 1985, respectively. (R.41; 65-6) These motions were also granted by Judge Shahood on November 22, 1985, and January 22, 1986, respectively (R.51; 73).

The Petitioners filed Notice of Appeal from all Orders of dismissal in the Fourth District Court of Appeal. (R.52-3; 63-4; 72) The appeals were consolidated. On April 8, 1987, the Fourth District Court of Appeal rendered its opinion affirming the trial court and certifying conflict with <u>Phelan v. Hanft</u>, 471 So.2d 648 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985). (A) Based upon the Fourth District's conflict with the Third District, Petitioners filed Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction on May 6, 1987.

- 2 -

<u>I.</u>

WHETHER THE SEVEN-YEAR STATUTE OF REPOSE PROVISION OF SECTION 95.11(4)(b), FLORIDA STATUTES (1975), IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS APPLIED TO PETITIONERS WHO WERE UNABLE TO DISCOVER THE CAUSE OF THEIR INJURY WITHIN SEVEN YEARS DUE TO RESPONDENTS' FRAUDULENT CONCEALMENT OF THE FACTS

II.

WHETHER THE DECISION OF <u>PULLAM V. CINCINNATI,</u> <u>INC.</u>, 476 SO.2D 657 (FLA. 1985), RECEDING FROM <u>BATTILLA V. ALLIS CHALMERS MFG. CO.</u>, 392 SO.2D 874 (FLA. 1980) PROVIDES ANY PRECEDENT IN DETERMINING IF A CAUSE OF ACTION THAT ACCRUED AFTER THE PERIOD OF REPOSE IS TIME-BARRED

III.

WHETHER RESPONDENTS ARE EQUITABLY ESTOPPED TO ASSERT THE STATUTE OF REPOSE AS AN AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE AFTER THEIR FRAUDULENT CONCEALMENT OF THE FACTS WITHIN THE SEVEN-YEAR REPOSE PERIOD

- 3 -

On September 26, 1985, Petitioners filed a complaint in the trial court alleging medical negligence on the part of Respondents at or about the time of the birth of JON TIMOTHY CARR on December 20, 1975. Petitioners' Amended Complaint alleges that they were unable to discover the negligent treatment rendered because of the fraudulent concealment by the Respondents. The trial court granted motions to dismiss with prejudice for all defendants based solely on the seven-year statute of repose contained within section 95.11(4)(b), Florida Statutes (1975). In so doing, the trial court violated Petitioners' constitutional right of access to the courts of this State, as provided in Article I, section 21, Florida Constitution.

The constitutional right of Petitioners to seek redress for their injury where they were unable, through due diligence, to discover the true cause of their injuries within the repose period, was declared by this Court in <u>Overland Construction Co., Inc. v.</u> <u>Sirmons</u>, 369 So.2d 572 (Fla. 1979), upon the authority of <u>Kluger v.</u> <u>White</u>, 281 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973). That right was subsequently recognized by this Court in <u>Diamond v. E. R. Squibb & Sons, Inc.</u>, 397 So.2d 671 (Fla. 1981) and by lower appellate courts in <u>Phelan</u> <u>v. Hanft</u>, 471 So.2d 648 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985), <u>appeal dismissed</u>, 488 So.2d 531 (Fla. 1986), and <u>Perez v. Universal Engineering Co.</u>, 413 So.2d 75 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982).

- 4 -

STANLEY M. ROSENBLATT, P.A.

ITH AND 12TH FLOORS CONCORD BUILDING, 66 WEST FLAGLER STREET, MIAMI, FLORIDA 33130 • TELEPHONE (305) 374-6131

This Court's decision in <u>Pullam v. Cincinnati, Inc.</u>, 476 So.2d 657 (Fla. 1985) cannot stand as an obstacle to Petitioners' cause of action. Unlike the CARRS, Richard Pullum was not denied access to the courts. Unlike the CARRS, Richard Pullum was not prevented from learning the cause of his injury within the period of repose. As a matter of law, <u>Pullum v. Cincinnati, Inc.</u> offers no precedent for determining Petitioners' rights in this cause.

Respondents, who are the cause of Petitioners' injury and the concealment, should not be permitted to assert the statute of repose as a bar to any action against them. Petitioners may not be denied their right to bring a cause of action against the very parties who prevented them from learning the material facts within the period of repose. This Court should quash the decision of the lower tribunal and remand for a full trial on the merits, leaving the question of when the Petitioners discovered or should have discovered the source of their injury for a jury determination.

STANLEY M. ROSENBLATT, P. A. IITH AND 12TH FLOORS CONCORD BUILDING, 66 WEST FLAGLER STREET, MIAMI, FLORIDA 33130 • TELEPHONE (305) 374-6131

- 5 -

ARGUMENT

I.

THE SEVEN-YEAR STATUTE OF REPOSE PROVISION OF SECTION 95.11(4)(b), FLORIDA STATUTES (1975), IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS APPLIED TO PETITIONERS WHO WERE UNABLE TO DISCOVER THE CAUSE OF THEIR INJURY WITHIN SEVEN YEARS DUE TO RESPONDENTS' FRAUDULENT CONCEALMENT OF THE FACTS

JON TIMOTHY CARR was born on December 20, 1975; he was severely brain-damaged at birth, or shortly thereafter, as a result of the medical negligence of Respondents. The child's parents, ELLEN M. CARR and GEROW F. CARR, individually and on behalf of the minor, filed suit against Respondents on September 12, 1985. The Complaint declares, at paragraph 12, that ELLEN M. CARR, through the exercise of due diligence, was unable to discover the facts and circumstances surrounding the negligent care and treatment that had been rendered and, furthermore, that Respondents fraudulently concealed those facts and circumstances from ELLEN M. CARR. The trial court dismissed the CARRS' action, with prejudice, on the basis of the Respondents' argument that section 95.11(4)(b), Florida Statutes (1975), relating to the limitations of actions for medical malpractice suits, constitutes a complete bar to the Petitioners' suit. The Fourth District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's dismissal.

Section 95.11(4)(b) provides in pertinent part:

- 6 -

STANLEY M. ROSENBLATT, P. A.

An action for medical malpractice shall be commenced within 2 years from the time the incident giving rise to the action occurred or within 2 years from the time the incident is discovered, or should have been discovered with the exercise of due diligence; however, in no event shall the action be commenced later than 4 years from the date of the incident or occurrence out of which the cause of action accrued... In those actions covered by this paragraph in which it can be shown that fraud, concealment, or intentional misrepresentation of fact prevented the discovery of the injury within the 4-year period, the period of limitations is extended forward 2 years from the time that the injury is discovered or should have been discovered with the exercise of due diligence, but in no event to exceed 7 years from the date the incident giving rise to the injury occurred.

Section 95.11(4)(b) contains both a statute of limitations and a statute of repose. The former establishes a time limit within which an action must be brought, measured from the time of the accrual of the cause of action; the latter cuts off a right of action after a specified time. <u>Bauld v. J. A. Jones Construction</u> Co., 357 So.2d 401 (Fla. 1978)

The statute of repose for medical negligence has been found to be constitutional where it merely curtails the time in which to file a suit. Thus, a five- to six-month period remaining after discovery of injury is not so short that enforcing the statute would result in a denial of access to the courts. <u>Cates v. Graham</u>, 451 So.2d 475 (Fla. 1984) <u>See also Cobb v. Maldonado</u>, 451 So.2d 482 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984); <u>Carlton v. Ridings</u>, 422 So.2d 1067 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982); and <u>Pisut v. Sichelman</u>, 455 So.2d 620 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986); all of which cases involved a discovery of the injury prior

- 7 -

JITH AND 12TH FLOORS CONCORD BUILDING, 66 WEST FLAGLER STREET, MIAMI, FLORIDA 33130 • TELEPHONE (305) 374-6131

to the cut-off date specified in the statute. In <u>Pisut</u>, the court observed, in dictum, that the statute of repose would not be constitutional as applied to a plaintiff who has only one day to file. No case has yet addressed the issue. In the non-medical context, this Court has addressed the validity of the statute of repose where there was no time left to file.

In <u>Overland Construction Company</u>, Inc. v. Sirmons, 369 So.2d 572 (Fla. 1979), this Court declared that a twelve-year statute of repose is unconstitutional insofar as it acts as an absolute bar to lawsuits brought more than twelve years after events connected with construction of improvements to realty. The <u>Overland</u> court declared that the polestar decision for construction of the statute of repose is found in <u>Kluger v. White</u>, 281 So.2d 1, 4 (Fla. 1973), which declares:

> "Where a right of access to the courts for redress for a particular injury has been provided by statutory law pre-dating the adoption of the Declaration of Rights of the Constitution of the State of Florida, or where such right has become a part of the common law of the State pursuant to Fla. Stat. Sec. 2.01, FSA, the Legislature is without power to abolish such a right without providing a reasonable alternative to protect the rights of the people of the State to redress for injuries, unless the Legislature can show an overpowering public necessity for the abolishment of such right, and no alternative method of meeting such public necessity can be shown."

This Court, in <u>Overland</u>, found no public necessity for abolishing a cause of action for injuries occurring more than twelve years after the completion of improvements to real property; it found no

- 8 -

alternative means of redress for Jerry Sirmons. Thus, it held that, insofar as section 95.11(3)(c), Florida Statutes (1975) provides an absolute bar to lawsuits brought more than twelve years after events connected with the construction of improvements to real property, it violates Article I, section 21 of the Florida Constitution, which provides:

> The courts shall be open to every person for redress of any injury, and justice shall be administered without sale, denial or delay.

Subsequently, in <u>Battilla v. Allis Chalmers Mfg. Co.</u>, 392 So.2d 874 (Fla. 1981), this Court applied the same rationale to a product liability action against a manufacturer brought more than twelve years after the date of sale. The trial court had ruled that the action was barred by the statute of limitations, section 95.031, Florida Statutes (1975). This Court reversed on the authority of <u>Overland</u>, holding that, as applied to this case, section 95.031(2) unconstitutionally denied plaintiff's access to court under the Florida Constitution. In a dissenting opinion, Justice McDonald disagreed that <u>Overland</u> should apply to manufactured products. He observed that the normal useful life of buildings is greater than that of manufactured products and perceived a rational and legitimate basis for restricting liability to a time commensurate with the normal useful life of manufactured products.

The next year, this Court was faced, once more, with review of a product liability action against a manufacturer in <u>Diamond v.</u> E. R. Squibb & Sons, Inc., 397 So.2d 671 (Fla. 1981). In <u>Diamond</u>,

- 9 -

the defective product, a drug known as Diethylstilbestrol (DES), produced by Squibb, was ingested during the pregnancy of the plaintiff's mother between 1955 and 1956; however, the drug's effects did not become manifest until after the plaintiff daughter reached puberty. The trial court had entered summary judgment for the drug manufacturer because Nina Diamond's pre-cancerous condition was not discovered until twenty years after the drug was administered to her mother, and eight years after the statute of repose; the District Court of Appeal had affirmed. This Court quashed the District Court's opinion under the principles laid down in Overland. Justice McDonald concurred specially, declaring:

> When an injury has occurred but a cause of action cannot be pursued because the results of the injury could not be discovered, a statute of limitation barring the action does, in my judgment, bar access to the courts and is constitutionally impermissive.

In 1984, in <u>Universal Engineering Corp. v. Perez</u>, (Fla. 1984), this Court was once more faced with a question involving the statute of repose in section 95.11(3)(c), the statute involved in <u>Overland</u>. Perez and Rodriguez had filed suit against their employers in 1975, alleging they had contracted manganese poisoning induced by fumes given off during the welding process and had become seriously ill in April, 1972 and October, 1972, respectively, but the cause of their illness was not determined until a much later date. The record was silent as to the exact date on which the men knew or should have reasonably known that their illness was occupationally related. It was undisputed that their

- 10 -

cause of action accrued after the twelve-year repose period had run On that basis, the trial court entered summary judgment in 1970. for the manufacturer and the employees appealed. The Third District reversed and remanded, finding that section 95.11(3)(c), Florida Statutes (1975) was unconstitutional as applied to appellees' causes The manufacturers then appealed to this Court, which of action. found that the case must be analyzed in terms of the reasoning in Overland Construction Co. v. Sirmons and its clarification of Bauld v. J. A. Jones Construction Co. Appellees acknowledged that their illnesses were manifest in 1972, but alleged that the cause of their illness (occupational disease) was not determined until a later, unspecified date. Unable to determine the date of the accrual of the cause of action and whether the decision was controlled by Overland or by Bauld, this Court declared:

> If the cause of action is found to have accrued before January 1, 1975, the effective date of the statute, the savings clause will be controlled by <u>Bauld</u>. If, however, the cause of action accrued after January 1, 1975, the claim will be barred by the statute. According to <u>Overland</u>, this would result in an unconstitutional denial of access to the courts; thus, the statute would be unconstitutional as applied.

The constitutionality of the statute of repose as applied to a medical malpractice claimant whose cause of action accrues after the repose period has not yet been determined by this Court. In <u>Phelan v. Hanft</u>, 471 So.2d 648 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985), Catherine Phelan appealed to the Third District Court of Appeal from a dismissal of

- 11 -

11TH AND 12TH FLOORS CONCORD BUILDING, 66 WEST FLAGLER STREET, MIAMI, FLORIDA 33130 • TELEPHONE (305) 374-6131

her action under section 95.11(4)(b), Florida Statutes (1975). Catherine Phelan's complaint alleged that on August 14, 1976, the defendant Dr. Hanft performed a dilation and curettage upon her, and informed her that her intrauterine device had been spontaneously expelled during an earlier miscarriage. For the next five years, Ms. Phelan experienced physical and emotional problems which led to another physician performing a hysterectomy on her on August 4, 1981. At that time, she learned that the I.U.D. had not been expelled, but instead was lodged in and projecting through the wall of her uterus. Within two years of the discovery, on August 1, 1983, Phalen sued Dr. Hanft. The trial court found as a matter of law that Ms. Phalen knew or should have known of the existence of her cause of action within four years of August 14, 1976, the date of the incident. The Third District found that the issue of when Ms. Phalen knew or should have known of the existence of her cause of action against Hanft was one of fact to be resolved by a jury.

Citing <u>Overland</u>, <u>Diamond</u> and <u>Universal Engineering Corp.</u>, the Third District applied to Phelan's medical malpractice case the rule set forth in the context of product liability and construction defects cases, that where a claimant's cause of action is barred by the repose provision at the time it first accrues, and thus no judicial form is available, the statute of repose will be declared invalid as applied to such claim. The Third District reversed and remanded for further proceedings, declaring that if the factfinder concludes that Ms. Phelan did not discover and should not have

- 12 -

IITH AND 12TH FLOORS CONCORD BUILDING, 66 WEST FLAGLER STREET, MIAMI, FLORIDA 33130 • TELEPHONE (305) 374-6131

discovered her cause of action until August 4, 1981, then the statute of repose would unconstitutionally deny her access to the courts and could not be used to bar her claim.

On appeal from the decision of the District Court of Appeal declaring the statute invalid as applied to Catherine Phelan, this Court in <u>Hanft v. Phelan</u> dismissed Hanft's appeal for lack of jurisdiction. Therefore, this Court has not yet ruled on the constitutionality of section 95.11(4)(b), Florida Statutes (1975), medical malpractice, as applied to a claimant whose cause of action accrued after the period of repose. The Third District opinion directly and expressly conflicts with the opinion of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in the case at bar. The Third District's opinion should be adopted by this Court for the following reasons.

Both the trial court and the appellate court reviewing the trial court in this cause relied upon this Court's holding in the case of <u>Pullum v. Cincinnati, Inc.</u>, 476 So.2d 657 (Fla. 1985). <u>Pullum</u> was an action for products liability, the applicable limitation period prescribed by section 95.11(3). Richard Pullum was injured in April, 1977, while operating a Cincinnati pressbrake machine which had been delivered to the original purchaser in November, 1966. He filed suit against the manufacturer in November, 1980, more than twelve years from the delivery date but within the applicable four-year statute of limitations. The trial court granted summary judgment against Pullum and the district court affirmed. On the authority of Purk v. Federal Press Co., 387 So.2d

- 13 -

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