ISSUE ON APPEAL

WHETHER FLORIDA'S MEDICAL MALPRACTICE STATUTE OF REPOSE, WHICH SETS SEVEN YEARS AS THE OUTSIDE LIMIT WITHIN WHICH SUCH ACTIONS CAN BE BROUGHT, CAN BE SQUARED WITH THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION'S ACCESS-TO-COURTS PROVISION, GIVEN THE ANNOUNCED NECESSITY FOR AGGRESSIVE LEGISLATION IN THIS AREA AND THIS COURT'S INABILITY TO FASHION ALTERNATIVE PROVISIONS?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Defendants/respondents, Lauderdale Gynecologic Associates, Robert Grenitz, M.D., and Joseph Raziano, M.D., accept plaintiffs/petitioners' statement of the case and facts.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This court should affirm the constitutionality of section 95.11(4)(b), Florida Statutes (1975), which sets a sevenyear period within which medical malpractice claims must be brought. Under this repose provision, timeliness is an essential element of a cause of action. Plaintiffs did not bring a claim within seven years so they have no cause of action.

Making such determinations is a legislative prerogative. The subject statute does not offend the Florida constitution's access-to-courts provision because it was grounded on an announced public necessity and no less stringent measures would obviate the problems the legislature sought to solve. This conclusion is in keeping with the Fourth District's and with the cases in which this court has considered the constitutionality of Florida's several statutes of repose.

The fact that the instant case includes an allegation of fraud should not trouble the court. Plaintiffs' claim is wholly conclusory and therefore insufficient. That they <u>allegedly</u> did not discover their claim does not render it <u>essen-</u> <u>tially</u> undiscoverable; the legislature has legislatively determined that seven years is an objectively reasonable period within which such claims can be discovered. After that time, the equities favor the defendants, who may find their ability to defend against a stale fraud claim as impaired as their ability to defend against the stale malpractice claim.

The medical malpractice statute of repose is constitutional on its face and as applied. The opinion of the Fourth District should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

FLORIDA'S MEDICAL MALPRACTICE STATUTE OF REPOSE, WHICH SETS SEVEN YEARS AS THE OUT-SIDE LIMIT WITHIN WHICH SUCH ACTIONS CAN BE BROUGHT, PASSES CONSTITUTIONAL MUSTER BECAUSE IT REFLECTS LEGITIMATE PUBLIC NECESSITY AND LACK OF REASONABLE ALTERNA-TIVES.

A. <u>Introduction</u>.

Section 95.11(4)(b), Florida Statutes (1975), unambiguously provides the time limit for commencing a medical

- 2 -

malpractice action: "An action for medical malpractice shall be commenced within two years . . [unless certain tolling provisions apply] . . . but in no event to exceed seven years from the date the incident giving rise to the injury occurred."

Plaintiffs <u>sub</u> judice brought their complaint in September 1985, nearly ten years after their son sustained severe brain damage at birth. (R.12,13) If the seven-year repose provision of section 95.11(4)(b) is facially valid, then plaintiffs' action is unquestionably time-barred and the Fourth District's affirmance of the order dismissing the case with prejudice is correct.

Statutes of repose, as noted by the Fourth District, are analytically distinct from statutes of limitation. Unlike a statute of limitation, which does not begin to run until the cause of action accrues, a statute of repose terminates the right to bring an action after a certain period expires. <u>Universal Engineering Corp. v. Perez</u>, 451 So.2d 463, 465 (Fla. 1985). That period bears no relationship to when a particular wrong occurred.

A statute of repose has a substantive as well as a procedural aspect. It defines, as a matter of substantive law, the scope of the right to bring a cause of action. It does not act as a bar: "its effect, rather, is to prevent what might otherwise be a cause of action, from ever arising." <u>Rosenberg</u> <u>v. Town of North Bergen</u>, 293 A.2d 662, 667 (N.J. 1972). "The injured party literally has <u>no</u> cause of action. The harm that

- 3 -

has been done is <u>damnum absque injuria</u>--a wrong for which the law affords no redress." <u>Id.</u> There is no question that defining causes of action is an appropriate and exclusive legislative prerogative. "The function of [a statute of repose] is thus rather to define substantive rights than to alter or modify a remedy. The Legislature is entirely at liberty to create new rights or abolish old ones as long as no vested rights are disturbed." <u>Id.</u>

A variety of persuasive rationales support the efficacy of repose provisions. Statutes of repose share a purpose of encouraging diligence in prosecution of claims, eliminating the potential for abuse from a stale claim, and fostering certainty and finality in litigation. In the areas of products liability, medical malpractice and construction liability, these concerns are especially pronounced. Intervening technology, passage of time and other circumstances make the tracing of injuries, and defending against allegations, very Insurance problems often prompt the enactment of difficult. repose provisions, as indeed they contributed to the enactment of section 95.11(4)(b). Physicians in particular are exposed to abnormally long periods of potential liability and unusually large numbers of potential claimants. Medical malpractice statutes of repose acknowledge, inter alia, the uncertainties with which a physician must deal in a given case and the fact that he has no control over discharged patients. In enacting section 95.11(4)(b), the Florida legislature limited the liability of physicians and other health care providers to seven years' duration. The statute effectively defines a medical malpractice cause of action, declaring that an element of the cause of action is that it be brought within seven years.

Reduced to its essentials, the issue on appeal is whether the statute can insulate physicians from liability after this period, even in cases in which it is alleged that they prevented plaintiffs from timely discovering the cause of the child's injury through fraudulent concealment. More precisely, this court will decide whether section 95.11(4)(b) constitutes a violation of Article 1, section 21, of the Florida Constitution of 1968, known as the access-to-courts provision.

The Florida Supreme Court has not previously passed on whether the medical malpractice statute of repose can be reconciled with the access-to-courts provision even when it amounts to an absolute bar. The Supreme Court of Nebraska, however, has answered this question with a resounding "yes." In <u>Colton v.</u> <u>Dewey</u>, 212 Neb. 126, 321 N.W.2d 913 (Neb. 1982), a medical malpractice plaintiff claimed application of a professional negligence statute denied her the right of access to courts guaranteed by the Nebraska Constitution. Rejecting the argument that plaintiff must be aware of her claim before the statute of repose may run against it, the court responded:

> Likewise, we find no merit in her third constitutional argument. The requirement of Neb. Const. art. I, section 13, that all courts be open and every person have a remedy by due process of law for any injury to his person, does not mean that limits may

not be imposed upon the time within which one must ask courts to act.

* * *

A review of the history leading to enactment of the period of repose is instructive. In [an earlier case], we held that an action for malpractice did not accrue until a patient discovered, or in the exercise of reasonable diligence should have Thereafter, discovered, the malpractice. the Legislature limited that period of dis-The question simply covery to 10 years. becomes one of whether the Legislature has the power to do so. It has long been the law of this state that the Legislature is free to create and abolish rights so long as no vested right is disturbed.

Id. at 916. We believe that a similar conclusion is warranted in Florida.¹ The Nebraska statute, like Florida's, applied to cases in which fraudulent concealment was alleged.

B. The Legislation Comports with Kluger v. White.

Whether section 95.11(4)(b), Florida Statutes (1975), passes constitutional muster must be decided with reference to <u>Kluger v. White</u>, 281 So.2d 1, 4 (Fla. 1973). As the court stated in that case, the legislature can create and abolish

¹Plaintiffs cite a number of opinions in which various statutes of repose have been stricken on state constitutional grounds. It should be noted that a greater number of states have sustained such statutes against constitutional challenges. <u>See</u> Anderson v. Fred Wagner and Roy Anderson, Jr., Inc., 402 So.2d 320 (Miss. 1981) (stating that of twenty-five states which have considered the issue, fifteen have upheld statutes' constitutionality and ten have not). It is also of interest that, although repeatedly asked to do so, the United States Supreme Court has declined to review the constitutionality of a state statute of repose. This disinterest suggests that the Supreme Court does not view statutes of repose as abridging any federal constitutional rights.

causes of action without violating the access-to-courts provision, so long as "[it] can show an overpowering public necessity for the abolishment of such right, and no alternative method of meeting such public necessity can be shown." Of course, the court must also be mindful of the axiom that legislation carries a presumption of constitutionality. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Jetton v. Jacksonville Electric Authority</u>, 399 So.2d 396 (Fla. lst DCA), <u>rev. denied</u>, 411 So.2d 383 (Fla. 1981).

As to the first part of the <u>Kluger</u> standard, the Fourth District correctly concluded that the legislative preamble to the 1975 Medical Malpractice Reform Act demonstrates the requisite public necessity for the repose provision embodied in the Act. Twelve years ago, the legislature declared problems in the malpractice system to be of crisis proportions, it recognized that doctors' ability to practice their profession would be imperiled without legislative relief, and it specifically acknowledged the problem of skyrocketing malpractice insurance premiums. Such a preamble would be equally fitting in 1987. The malpractice crisis has not abated but has become more acute; legislative efforts to ameliorate the problem are ongoing. Clearly, there is a public interest that overrides the interests of any individuals or vested interest groups.

Plaintiffs should take little solace from <u>Aldana v.</u> <u>Holub</u>, 381 So.2d 231 (Fla. 1980), in which a reluctant court struck certain provisions of the 1975 Act which pertained to medical mediation panels. Plaintiffs contend that this action undercuts the argument that the Act's preamble adequately states public necessity. The Aldana opinion does not justify such an inference. It struck certain mediation provisions for very different reasons than are presented here. Noting that it had affirmed the particular provisions' facial constitutionality in Carter v. Sparkman, 335 So.2d 802 (Fla. 1976), the Aldana court concluded that in the intervening years the provisions had proven themselves unworkable in application. While the provisions did not facially violate the access-to-courts clause, in practice they were shown to impinge on claimants' right of due 381 So.2d at 231. The court declared its conclusion process. "unfortunate," and certainly did not venture any opinion concerning the legitimacy of the 1975 Act's legislative purpose. The legislature's judgment in assessing the need for a repose provision warrants this court's deference.

Plaintiffs and their amicus contend that the second part of the <u>Kluger</u> standard is not met, in that the legislation fails to show consideration of alternative methods. This portion of the <u>Kluger</u> test was recently considered in <u>Smith v.</u> <u>Department of Insurance</u>, 12 F.L.W. 189 (Fla. April 23, 1987), in which the court struck a portion of the 1986 Tort Reform and Insurance Act on grounds that the legislature failed to provide an alternative solution <u>or</u> a rational basis for curtailing noneconomic damages. The court stated that only by an "act of faith" could it speculate that the damages cap met the stated legislative aims. <u>Id</u>. at 192.

By contrast, there is a clear and rational relationship between the legitimate goals stated in the preamble to the 1975 Act, and an absolute cut off of physician's liability after Any intermediary measure would have been a certain time. fraught with pitfalls. Had the legislature, for example, created a fraud exception to the seven-year limitation, the statute would have been vulnerable to an equal protection chal-Austin v. Litvak, 682 P.2d 41 (Colo. 1984), involved an lenge. equal protection challenge to a medical malpractice statute of repose which, unlike Florida's, specifically exempted fraudulent concealment cases from the three-year repose period. Plaintiffs alleged that, although exercising due diligence, they had been unable to discover their cause of action for negligent misdiagnosis within the prescribed period. Their right to equal protection of the laws was abridged, they claimed, by the disparate treatment of plaintiffs claiming fraud and those asserting other reasons for their failure to timely discover The Colorado Supreme Court agreed, their cause of action. largely on the rationale that by including this exception in its repose statute, the legislature had "substantially undermine[d] the apparent purpose of enacting a strict statute of repose." 682 P.2d at 50. In concluding that the two classifications were arbitrary, the court commented, "[c]laims dependent upon knowing concealment to avoid the repose provision are far more likely to be frivolous or involve stale evidence than claims of negligent misdiagnosis." Id.

By enacting an evenhanded statute of repose, the Florida legislature avoided the <u>Austin</u> problem. Plaintiffs in negligent misdiagnosis cases might have led the charge, but undoubtedly others would also have claimed impermissible discrimination if Florida had chosen such an act. A legitimate public necessity is stated in the preamble, and the choice of means is rational. No intermediate or equivocal measures would resolve the "long tail" and other problems which plague physicians and the other groups for whose protection statutes of repose have been enacted. The subject legislation passes both prongs of the <u>Kluger</u> test.

C. <u>The Fourth District Correctly Analyzed Precedential Case</u> Law Concerning Statutes of Repose.

The Fourth District's conclusion that the subject statute satisfies Kluger is compatible with the series of cases in which this court has passed on the validity of sister Bauld v. Touchette, 357 So.2d 401 (Fla. 1978), first statutes. in the series, simply held the products liability statute did not offend the access-to-courts provision as applied to a plaintiff who was injured, but failed to file suit, within the The same statute withstood a federal contwelve-year period. stitutional challenge in <u>Purk v. Federal Press Co.</u>, 387 So.2d 354 (Fla. 1980). In <u>Cates v. Graham</u>, 451 So.2d 475 (Fla. 1984), the court likewise concluded that the medical malpractice statute of repose did not impermissibly bar a case discovered within the applicable four-year period but not timely filed. In a pair of decisions, <u>Overland Construction Co., Inc. v. Simmons</u>, 369 So.2d 572 (Fla. 1979) and <u>Battilla v. Allis Chamlers</u> <u>Manufacturing Co.</u>, 392 So.2d 874 (Fla. 1980), the court declared that the construction and products liability statutes of repose, respectively, were unconstitutional as applied to bar claims not accruing within the statutory period.

Universal Engineering Corp. v. Perez, 451 So.2d 463 (Fla. 1984), gave pause to the Fourth District. Perez, however, is consistent with defendants' analysis. In it, the court purposefully did not rule on whether <u>Overland</u> retained vitality. It acknowledged the possibility that the prefatory language of chapter 80-322, Laws of Florida, cured the <u>Kluger</u> problem articulated in <u>Overland</u>. Indeed, we agree with the Second District's conclusion that the curative language did render the construction statute of repose valid in all respects:

> The legislature has the last word on declarations of public policy. VanBibber v. Hartford Accident & Indemnity Insurance Co., 439 So.2d 880 (Fla. 1983). The courts are bound to give great weight to legislative determinations of fact. Miami Home Milk Producers Association v. Milk Control Board, 124 Fla. 797, 169 So. 541 (1936) In enacting the preamble to the new section 95.11(3)(c), we believe the legislature has met the requirements of Overland Construction Co., thereby sustaining the validity of the statute. <u>Cf.</u> <u>Rotwein v. Gersten</u>, 160 736, 36 So.2d 419 (1948) (court Fla. deferred to legislative declaration of policy in upholding statute which abolished the cause of action for alienation of affection).

American Liberty Insurance Co. v. West and Conyers, 491 So.2d 573, 575 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986).

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